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          1  FINANCE AND HIGHER EDUCATION COMMITTEES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Since we're

          3  behind schedule, we're not going to take a break,

          4  but I'll allow time for the Chair Charles Barron to

          5  proceed to the podium. And we'll hear expeditiously

          6  from the City University of New York, and we will be

          7  joint in session between the Finance Committee and

          8  the Committee on Higher Education, Chaired by Chair

          9  Barron.

         10                 My distinguished colleague Council

         11  Member Charles Barron of Brooklyn. I'm going to turn

         12  it over to Chair Barron for a statement.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Good morning. I

         14  want to thank Chair Weprin for co-chairing this with

         15  us, or the Finance Committee and its work that it's

         16  been doing over the years to prioritize CUNY. So, I

         17  know this is unorthodox and you may get upset at me,

         18  give him a handclap. Even though you're not supposed

         19  to in the Chambers. He's been a real champion for

         20  CUNY. You know when we get behind the doors and we

         21  have to do the negotiations, to really make sure

         22  that we get our fair share, Chairman Weprin is

         23  always there for us. So, I just wanted to

         24  acknowledge that.

         25                 Also, I'm going to be reading my
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          2  statement for the record, but the bottom line, we go

          3  through this budget dance every year, and the Mayor

          4  purposely takes everything from CUNY out of the

          5  budget, and then we're going to fight to get it back

          6  in and then we will win, because we're not going to

          7  pass a budget unless they handle CUNY and make sure

          8  they prioritize CUNY. We're going to make sure of

          9  that. But having said that, during a surplus year,

         10  we want to stop asking for restorations, we want

         11  enhancements. We want more. So, not fall for this

         12  little dance of the Mayors where he takes everything

         13  out, we're going to put it back in, and then we're

         14  going to shake hands and be on the steps saying we

         15  did. But we need to ask for more.

         16                 So, we're very, very glad that the

         17  State did put in their share or a share, so we won't

         18  have to raise tuition, so we're happy about that,

         19  tuition will not be increased. And I think that's a

         20  very strong statement.

         21                 So, let me read my statement for the

         22  record. I'm proud of our students. I thank CUNY, I

         23  am a double-degree student. Thank you very much,

         24  Hunter College, and New York City Technical College.

         25  To degrees, 35,000 years to get it. So, I think I
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          2  got a credit a year. But I finished. I did it, and

          3  I'm very proud of that, and I just want to thank you

          4  so much for allowing me to Chair CUNY. CUNY has done

          5  really great over the years, and I've got to say to

          6  the Administration, to the faculty, to all of the

          7  students that we are one family and we've been

          8  fighting very, very hard to maintain our respect and

          9  our integrity around the budget process.

         10                 For the record, good morning. My name

         11  is Charles Barron. I am Chair of the Higher

         12  Education Committee. This is a joint hearing of the

         13  Finance and Higher Education Committees for the

         14  Fiscal 2007 Executive Budget.

         15                 We will be reviewing the projected

         16  budget of the City University of New York for the

         17  coming Fiscal Year 2007. Chancellor Matthew

         18  Goldstein has been invited to testify before us but

         19  he's ably represented. The Committee and

         20  University's proposed expense and capital budgets

         21  and their impact on CUNY's students, faculty,

         22  administrative services and staffing.

         23                 During last year's budget

         24  negotiations, the City Council successfully restored

         25  4.5 million to the community college safety net
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          2  program and 37 million for other Council-funded

          3  programs initiatives. The Council has restored and

          4  increased the Peter Vallone Scholarship, Academic

          5  Scholarship, to $11.4 million. Once again, despite

          6  the Council's best efforts, the Fiscal 2007

          7  Executive Budget as proposed by the Mayor does not

          8  restore $53 million in hidden cuts.

          9                 These hidden cuts include 12.3

         10  million to community colleges, 11.4 million for the

         11  Vallone scholarship, 4.5 million for the Community

         12  Safety Net Program and 24 million in other

         13  Council-funded Initiatives.

         14                 These cuts will force students to

         15  incur even more unimaginable amounts of debt-growing

         16  problems in our City and the nation.

         17                 The Mayor's cuts will also create

         18  barriers for students seeking to obtain a proposed

         19  secondary education. CUNY students are an essential

         20  part of our City's growth. We should be doing more

         21  to help students attend college, not to create

         22  barriers to their success.

         23                 When CUNY students graduate from the

         24  City University, they stay in the City for over ten

         25  years and contribute billions of dollars to this
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          2  economy. So, when they give you something, they're

          3  not doing you a favor, they owe it to you, because

          4  you give it to them to give to you.

          5                 By not restoring these cuts in the

          6  Fiscal 2007 Executive Budget, the Mayor continues to

          7  miss important opportunities to show CUNY students

          8  that he cares about the ability to receive a good

          9  college education at an affordable price.

         10                 We feel if the Mayor can look out for

         11  the Yankees, give them $160 million to dig up the

         12  ground to build their stadium on, looking out for

         13  the Mets, he's looking out for the Jets, they want

         14  to build NASCAR. They wanted to bring the Jets,

         15  bring the Olympics, if he can do all of that for

         16  these games, and the Nets, and the Nets in Brooklyn,

         17  $100 million for Ratner, billions of dollars when

         18  it's over, how come you got it for the Nets, Jets,

         19  Olympics, Nascar and you don't have it for CUNY?

         20  Unacceptable. That's unacceptable.

         21                 I'm getting upset. So, we will

         22  proceed, Mr. Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes. I understand

         24  the Chancellor could not make it today, but he is

         25  ably represented by the Senior Vice Chancellor Allan
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          2  Dobrin, as well as a number of other Vice

          3  Chancellors, including my, I have to give him a

          4  plug, my long-time colleague, friend of many years,

          5  Vice Chancellor Jay Herschenson.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Let me announce

          7  my Committee.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, and Chair

          9  Barron will introduce the members that are here.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Yes, I got

         11  excited and carried away. But my able-bodied

         12  Committee, we thank them for their support over the

         13  years. Council Member Gale Brewer, Council Member

         14  Tony Avella, a new member of our Committee and

         15  strong supporter. Council Member Miguel Martinez, a

         16  member of the Committee. And we're also joined by

         17  Council Member Reyna, from Brooklyn, and Council

         18  Member Robert Jackson, Chair of the Committee on

         19  Education, because what he does with them down there

         20  will determine what they're going to get up here in

         21  Higher Ed. So, we thank him for his support over the

         22  years.

         23                 And Council Member, one of my -- oh,

         24  by the way, I'm going to be playing Council Member

         25  Peter Vallone a game of ping-pong, and he has
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          2  challenged me a game of table tennis, I heard he

          3  challenged me because he's really good, but I'm

          4  going to figure out a way to win. And one of the

          5  ways I'm going to figure out a way to win, is that

          6  when I get the first serve and I get the point,

          7  game's over. As soon as I score. But give him a big

          8  hand clap, and all the Committee members who work so

          9  hard.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Mr. Dobrin,

         11  proceed.

         12                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: I'd

         13  like to introduce my two colleagues. Vice Chancellor

         14  Ernesto Malave, who is the University CFO, and I'd

         15  like to introduce Eduardo DeValle, for the first

         16  time. Emma Macari, our long-time Vice Chancellor,

         17  will be retiring next month and Eduardo will be the

         18  Acting Vice Chancellor, and he's going to be

         19  terrific also.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Congratulations.

         21                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: Good

         22  morning, Chairperson Barron, Chairperson Weprin and

         23  members of the Higher Education Committee, staff and

         24  guests.

         25                 Thank you for the opportunity to
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          2  testify before you today about the City University

          3  of New York and the FY 2000 Executive Budget.

          4                 On behalf of CUNY, I thank you for

          5  your strong advocacy on the behalf of the University

          6  and all of Higher Education. Your long-time support

          7  has been a critical component of SUNY's and CUNY's

          8  academic resurgence.

          9                 Today CUNY is poised to reach even

         10  greater heights. That's why we are concerned about

         11  several proposed reductions in the Mayor's Executive

         12  Budget.

         13                 This morning I will briefly discuss

         14  how these reductions will affect the University's

         15  ability to meet the needs of our students. I'm

         16  grateful to   note that the Executive Budget calls

         17  for increases in pensions, energy, leases and

         18  collective bargaining, which address very important

         19  mandated needs of the University.

         20                 However, the Executive Budget does

         21  not restore $20.7 million of reductions to the

         22  community colleges that were included in the

         23  Preliminary Budget.

         24                 Such reduction compounds a funding

         25  shortfall from the State. We've provided increased
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          2  aid of $175 for FTE for community college students.

          3  Seventy-five dollars less than the requested $250

          4  per FTE.

          5                 Together with the proposed decrease

          6  in City aid, community colleges face a very severe

          7  funding situation. Impeding their continuing service

          8  for large cross sections of the City's population.

          9                 We are also requesting an additional

         10  $12.4 million in order to provide for the priorities

         11  outlined in the University's Master Plan. These

         12  dollars would enable our community colleges to hire

         13  an additional full-time faculty, enhance library

         14  support, as well as increase direct services to

         15  students and other critical areas, such as

         16  counseling, child care, and services to students

         17  with disabilities.

         18                 These are the funds that in part

         19  Chairman Barron was talking about that move the

         20  University forward, not just continue the dance that

         21  always leaves us with your help where we are.

         22                 CUNY has a critical role of helping

         23  people with all backgrounds move out of poverty and

         24  into the middle class.

         25                 Our community colleges in particular
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          2  offer access to degree credit, professional

          3  development, and preparatory programs to give New

          4  Yorkers a chance to enter emerging fields, increase

          5  their earning potential and contribute to the City's

          6  economic and social life.

          7                 These are students from our

          8  neighborhoods. Eighty-three percent of our community

          9  college students live in the five boroughs. With an

         10  average age of 25, many work full- or part-time, and

         11  some are already supporting families.

         12                 In the fall of 2005, the six

         13  community colleges served more than 73,300 degree

         14  credit students, a 15.5 percentage increase since

         15  the fall of 2001.

         16                 They also enrolled over 108,500 adult

         17  and continuing education students, a 17 percent

         18  increase since the 2001/2002 academic year.

         19                 As they accommodate these significant

         20  enrollment increases, the community colleges and

         21  Medgar Evers College also continue to host six

         22  public high schools, which serve over 3,500

         23  students. The community colleges partner with the

         24  city's Department of Small Business Services, and

         25  the New York State Department of Labor to operate
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          2  New York City Workforce 1 Career Centers, offering

          3  free placement services, career counseling, and

          4  training opportunities to students and community

          5  leaders.

          6                 Record attendance at recent CUNY

          7  College Information Fairs this spring, including one

          8  in East New York, Brooklyn, and other in Flushing,

          9  queens, indicates that interest in the University

         10  and the services continue to grow.

         11                 A CUNY Immigration Open House this

         12  month at Medgar Evers College was also well

         13  attended, demonstrating the demand for our

         14  immigration and citizenship services.

         15                 What these numbers show is that by

         16  investing in the University, the city is investing

         17  in its own future.

         18                 Together we are helping to create

         19  educated, civic-minded taxpayers who do more than

         20  simply dwell there, they become an integral part of

         21  their communities.

         22                 Some of you may have seen a recent

         23  editorial in Newsweek Magazine written by the CEO of

         24  Accenture, who wrote that his community college

         25  experience "transformed" him, helping prepare him to
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          2  lead a global consulting company.

          3                 Similarly, Chairperson Barron,

          4  Council Member Seabrook, received their community

          5  college education at CUNY before achieving advanced

          6  degrees, and pursuing their public service. Think

          7  about what the funding of community would be like,

          8  if they hadn't had that experience.

          9                 There are many examples of successful

         10  leaders who receive their starts at community

         11  colleges.

         12                 Like them, many New Yorkers rely on

         13  academic programs, pathways to professional and

         14  personal advancement. Unfortunately, some of these

         15  programs are slated for elimination. We are deeply

         16  concerned about the proposed reductions of $11.4

         17  million for the Peter F. Vallone City Council

         18  Scholarship, and 4.5 million, which would eliminate

         19  both programs.

         20                 Since the inception of the loan

         21  program in 1989, more than 38,000 CUNY students have

         22  received the Vallone Scholarships.

         23                 These scholarships given to students

         24  who graduated with a B average from the New York

         25  City High Schools, and maintain a B average at the
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          2  University, encourage high-achieving students to

          3  stay in New York City to continue their education.

          4                 More than 39,000 of the most needy

          5  community college students have received funding

          6  from the Safety Net Program since 2004. This is a

          7  program the Council really initiated, helping them

          8  to continue to advance the studies at CUNY.

          9                 It is clear that both programs offer

         10  critical support to our City students. CUNY prep,

         11  which I know the Council is aware of, the

         12  University's highly-lauded program for out-of-school

         13  youth faces a devastating funding cut.

         14                 We know that dropping out of high

         15  school is a significant factor in chronic

         16  unemployment.

         17                 By reengaging this vulnerable group

         18  of students in secondary, and eventually post

         19  secondary education, CUNY Prep, which the Council

         20  and Mayor's helped save last year is successfully

         21  addressing the urgent need in the City.

         22                 Last year CUNY Prep was able to

         23  provide a full-time college preparatory program for

         24  325 students, and a part-time program for older

         25  students with a total budget of $2.7 million.
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          2                 The budget included 1.3 million from

          3  the New York City Department of Youth and Community

          4  Development, and funding from the New York City

          5  Council and the Mayor's Office.

          6                 Both the Mayor's and the Council

          7  funding are eliminated in the Mayor's FY 2000

          8  Executive Budget.

          9                 DYCD is currently funding the program

         10  in only $405,000 a year for three years, of which

         11  $350,000 would be available for operational costs.

         12                 Factoring in inflation, this leaves a

         13  shortfall of approximately $2.5 million. We would

         14  appreciate your support for additional funding for

         15  CUNY Prep. The program cost is modest compared to

         16  the cost of not educating the City's youth, who have

         17  much to contribute to the City once they're able to

         18  reconnect through a challenging and

         19  carefully-designed program, such as CUNY Prep.

         20                 The University is also responding to

         21  the challenge of increasing the number of

         22  proficiency of students in science, math and nursing

         23  programs.

         24                 We share with the Council the desire

         25  to encourage greater participation in these
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          2  disciplines by all students. And as a result, we

          3  have proposed the City Council Science, Math and

          4  Nursing Initiative and request 7 million to address

          5  this challenge.

          6                 The Initiative would offer students

          7  in good standing who major in math, science and

          8  nursing, financial assistance for their studies and

          9  provide funding for colleges to expand and

         10  strengthen these disciplines.

         11                 In addition, continued funding is

         12  critically important for the University's Blackmail

         13  Initiative, which aims to increase the participation

         14  of underserved men in higher education, particularly

         15  at the CUNY campuses.

         16                 Project on 11 campuses are already

         17  underway. Focusing on such issues is recruitment

         18  retention and employment to ensure that every

         19  student has access to all of the benefits a college

         20  degree offers.

         21                 With the alarmingly low high school

         22  graduation rates, and depressingly high unemployment

         23  and incarceration rates among young black men

         24  throughout the City, New York has much to gain from

         25  investment of programs that pursue thoughtful

                                                            18

          1  FINANCE AND HIGHER EDUCATION COMMITTEES

          2  solutions.

          3                 The University is also seeking $1.2

          4  million to establish immigration centers in Long

          5  Island City, Washington Heights, and Jamaica.

          6                 These funds will be used to establish

          7  a volunteer corps of professionals to assist the

          8  colleges and immigration centers in reaching out to

          9  students, their families and surrounding communities

         10  with immigration and naturalization services.

         11                 Funding will also support a welcome

         12  back center to focus on credentializing

         13  foreign-trained health care workers, and

         14  professionals, enabling them to earn a living while

         15  pursuing more advanced licensing.

         16                 I must also note that the executive

         17  budget eliminates the funding for important

         18  initiatives across the University, including the

         19  Center for Worker Education, the Dominican Studies

         20  Institute, the Center for Puerto Rican Studies, and

         21  the Creative Arts Team, the Immigration Center and

         22  many others.

         23                 These programs and centers serve

         24  thousands of students and community members

         25  providing access to advanced study and creative
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          2  development. Their elimination would create

          3  significant service gaps.

          4                 We've been very grateful for the

          5  City's assistance in developing a substantial

          6  multi-year capital program for the University. This

          7  year offers us an unprecedented opportunity to

          8  accelerate the University's progress in meeting its

          9  capital needs.

         10                 The State has stepped up with key

         11  support for CUNY this year. And we now have a chance

         12  for matching funds to fulfill some priority needs at

         13  our community colleges.

         14                 Students and faculty alike would

         15  greatly benefit from the building upgrades, safety

         16  and infrastructure enhancements and additional

         17  space, and the City would gain a dollar's worth of

         18  economic development for every 50 cents allocated.

         19                 Unfortunately the Executive Budget

         20  does not include any increase to the capital program

         21  for the community colleges and Medgar Evers, or

         22  matching funds for the $43 million in the FY 2000

         23  State adopted budget. Surely we cannot do less for

         24  our community colleges than we're doing for the rest

         25  of the University.
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          2                 Anything the Council can do to assist

          3  and support the matching opportunity will be greatly

          4  appreciated.

          5                 In particular, we have requested 11.5

          6  million for two specific projects, the replacement

          7  of Fiterman Hall, Borough of Manhattan Community

          8  College, 7.5 million, and the construction of

          9  Academic 1 at Medgar Evers College, 4 million.

         10                 These additional funds are necessary

         11  to address high cost estimates, demolition and

         12  hazardous materials abatement at Fiterman Hall,

         13  which will be taking down very controlled increments

         14  and to address cost escalations impacting the

         15  construction industry, further exacerbated by rising

         16  fuel prices, and reconstruction in the gulf region.

         17                 Our request also includes funding to

         18  be distributed for projects at the campuses,

         19  including continuing to work on Center 3 at

         20  LaGuardia Community College, the Science Building at

         21  Queens Borough Community College, and the Chambers

         22  Street Building at BMCC.

         23                 At Kings Borough, Bronx and Hostos

         24  Community Colleges the funds will address mechanical

         25  infrastructure needs. The City's match of these new
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          2  State funds once requested is critical to our

          3  ability to move forward on these projects. Our

          4  community colleges and Medgar Evers College served

          5  tens of thousands of students in 112 buildings,

          6  compromising more than 7.1 million gross square

          7  feet. So substantial commitments are required to

          8  maintain the physical plant of this size.

          9                 Chairperson Barron, Chairperson

         10  Weprin and members of the Committee, we greatly

         11  appreciate your support in assisting a growing

         12  University system as a response to a wide range of

         13  educational needs across the City.

         14                 All of us look forward to continuing

         15  to work with you, to address the significant

         16  concerns I've outlined this morning.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Mr. Dobrin, I

         19  look forward every year, and it's my fifth year as

         20  head of the Finance Committee chairing these budget

         21  hearings with each and every agency, I look forward

         22  to CUNY's testimony each and every year. You know

         23  why? Because every other agency Commissioner who

         24  testifies, when I ask them about restorations and

         25  additional money, you may say, well, if you give us
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          2  the money we'll spend it, but we're not really

          3  asking for it because the Mayor didn't put it in,

          4  that's the wonderful thing about having an

          5  independent CUNY Board coming to testify that

          6  independently represents the students, faculty and

          7  residents of the City of New York that are serviced

          8  by CUNY, because they can come in here and honestly

          9  say that these cuts hurt and they have a real

         10  affect. And I want to thank you for that, and I know

         11  there are representatives of the Administration

         12  here, Al and others, so I just want to get that

         13  message across, that we're a little tired of this

         14  budget dance that we go through each year where by

         15  magic the money reemerges in June with the City

         16  Council, and somehow disappears the following

         17  January, and CUNY is part of that, but the

         18  difference is that CUNY is coming in and telling us

         19  that these cuts really hurt.

         20                 The other agency they're telling us,

         21  well, we're going to survive, it's not so bad, but

         22  if you want to put the money in, we'd be very happy.

         23                 So, I'd like to kind of end, not only

         24  the budget dance, but the, you know, deception, if

         25  you want to call it, on the part of a number of
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          2  agencies denying that there really are cuts.

          3                 And actually the Director of the

          4  Office of Management and Budget is probably the

          5  number one denier, because he's coming here to

          6  testify each and every year, and despite my

          7  questioning him ten different ways, and my

          8  colleagues questioning him ten different ways,

          9  somehow, you know, we get frustrated by not

         10  admitting that they're really cuts.

         11                 So, I think it's refreshing to see

         12  testimony that there really are cuts, and I really

         13  do appreciate that.

         14                 And since Chair Barron was nice

         15  enough to talk about my support for the CUNY system,

         16  I'll just return the favor, and he certainly has

         17  been a champion throughout all our budget

         18  negotiations fighting for the CUNY system. So, I

         19  want to thank you for your leadership.

         20                 You referred to Medgar Evers College

         21  and you referred to a number of the capital

         22  programs. Part of the disturbing thing about the way

         23  Medgar Evers College is treated, is as you all know

         24  is redesignated as a senior college in the CUNY

         25  system in 1994. And I know I have heard Chair Barron
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          2  say this time and time again, that they've somehow

          3  been treated in some ways as a stepchild in the

          4  senior college system. But as you know, the State is

          5  responsible for 100 percent of capital costs of all

          6  the other senior colleges, but somehow when it comes

          7  to Medgar Ever College, we have to do a 50/50

          8  capital situation, putting in the money, which is

          9  really not right because it is now part of the

         10  senior system, and it shouldn't really be treated

         11  any differently than the other State senior

         12  colleges.

         13                 My question for you is, to get to the

         14  question is, is there legislation in Albany to

         15  change that? What is your position on it? And what

         16  can we do collectively to change that?

         17                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: We

         18  have had conversations with people in Albany,

         19  there's, you know, obviously on the part of Division

         20  of Budget in State not much interest.

         21                 I think -- I don't think, I know that

         22  Medgar Evers is a senior college, and I think states

         23  should pay for the senior colleges.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: How do they

         25  justify not paying for Medgar Evers College, but
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          2  paying for the other senior colleges?

          3                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: I

          4  don't want to, and this is not an apology for the

          5  State because I think they should pay, but it comes

          6  out of the history of Medgar Evers College, which

          7  was originally a community college at the time of

          8  the fiscal crisis when the range was made, we

          9  rightly made a decision to make a senior college

         10  because the community deserved and needed that, I

         11  assume because they don't particularly want to pay

         12  for this, they then made a decision that, well, it

         13  was at that time a community college, so we don't

         14  need to pay for it.

         15                 But I'm not taking that position. I'm

         16  just explaining what their rationale would be?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So, you can say

         18  on the record that you support the State taking over

         19  the capital costs of Medgar College as they do for

         20  the other senior colleges.

         21                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: It is

         22  clearly a senior college now, and I don't see any

         23  reason -- you know, we're 30 years past the fiscal

         24  crisis, the State should pick this up like it picks

         25  up the other senior colleges.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Would that

          3  require State legislation?

          4                 MR. HERSCHENSON: It would.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Has there been

          6  any introduced, Mr. Herschenson?

          7                 MR. HERSCHENSON: One House bill on

          8  the Assembly side two years ago.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Use your

         10  mike.

         11                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: He

         12  said one House bill on the Assembly side.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. And what

         14  can we do to change that?

         15                 MR. HERSCHENSON: Work together.

         16                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: Work

         17  together.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'd like to do

         19  that and I know Chair Barron feels the same way on

         20  that issue.

         21                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: We

         22  very much appreciate your support. Maybe together we

         23  can really make some progress.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Then I'll reserve

         25  the right to come back if there's some areas that I

                                                            27

          1  FINANCE AND HIGHER EDUCATION COMMITTEES

          2  feel weren't covered. Chair Barron.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you very

          4  much. I also would like to acknowledge those who

          5  really put a lot of this together for us, and that's

          6  Veronica McNeil, the Finance analyst; Barbara Hall,

          7  where is she? Is our Counsel on the Committee, and

          8  Shenika Owuzo (phonetic), Policy Analyst, and

          9  Latonia McKinney, where are you? Oh, right there.

         10  Assistant Director of the Finance Division. And Jeff

         11  Rodus, Deputy Director of the Finance. Jeff, thank

         12  you very much. Give them all a bit handclap for all

         13  of the work that they've done.

         14                 And while we are going to fight for

         15  the increase, or the matching of capital money, we

         16  do want to say that we did have one victory that I

         17  think is critical for us to continue to acknowledge,

         18  that under this Committee, our Chair and support of

         19  the Council, and we did get the Mayor to commit to a

         20  four or five year capital plan to CUNY worth $602

         21  million. So, we just want to always give ourselves

         22  credit for that.

         23                 And also we've been joined by Council

         24  Member Leroy Comrie from Queens. We thank you for

         25  coming on board as well.
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          2                 I wanted to ask you about the compact

          3  plan, and I just want it on the record, we were

          4  talking in '05 of raising tuition, $130 for the

          5  seniors, and to 4,130, and 120 increase for

          6  community colleges for a total of 2,920 for the

          7  community colleges, where do we stand now with the

          8  current budget? Will there be any increases for the

          9  record?

         10                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: No.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Could you speak

         12  up louder, please. We didn't hear that.

         13                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: No.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: What did you say?

         15                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: No.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Oh. I just wanted

         17  that on the record.

         18                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: I

         19  appreciate you giving me time for my formal remarks,

         20  but let me do the real remarks now for a second.

         21                 We haven't done as well with the

         22  State budget over the last 20 years, as we deserved,

         23  as a City. This year with the compact, the State

         24  really stepped up. And we now have a mandated cost,

         25  fully funded. We've got $40 million to invest in the
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          2  senior colleges. There's going to be no tuition

          3  increase this year. This will be the best budget

          4  we've ever had in the State.

          5                 It's a good fiscal year in the State,

          6  it's a good fiscal year in the City. And what we're

          7  asking really here is we're saying, please help us

          8  with the things that are being proposed to be cut in

          9  a year with a good budget, and this is a real

         10  opportunity to move the community colleges ahead in

         11  the same way we're going to have the opportunity the

         12  senior colleges.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Excellent.

         14                 I also wanted to ask you some

         15  questions. This is the part, and Chairman, maybe you

         16  can help me with this, too; the State law requires

         17  the City to provide adequate funding, the MOE, the

         18  Memorandum --

         19                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I don't

         21  understand how the maintenance of effort, they

         22  actually cut 13 some odd million from that, and that

         23  is breaking the law, the law requires them to do

         24  that. How come every year we have to sit here and

         25  discuss the MOE, which by law they have to put that
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          2  money in and we're still talking now about 13-point

          3  some odd million that they want to take out of that.

          4  Isn't that a violation of the law?

          5                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: That's

          6  correct. The localities are required to fund their

          7  local community colleges at the same level they did

          8  the year before.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: So, we've got to

         10  really do something about that, Mr. Chairman. Every

         11  year we have to go back over the maintenance of

         12  effort, they're required to do by law.

         13                 Fiterman Hall. I'm really concerned

         14  about Fiterman Hall. Can you give us some further

         15  information on that? I understand the insurance is

         16  there, the FEMA money is supposed to be there, the

         17  City money is there. But what's going on?

         18                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: We

         19  cobbled all the money together, a combination of

         20  FEMA, insurance, money that the Mayor gave us, money

         21  that Division of Budgets and State gave us, and

         22  money from an I-11 fund. So, we had all of that

         23  together. We had a slight shortfall in

         24  deconstruction, decontamination, because when the

         25  original estimates were gotten of the costs, nobody
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          2  knew how polluted that area was. So now, as the

          3  professionally goes, we're going to take it down

          4  with a teaspoon, so it's a little more expensive to

          5  do that.

          6                 We have architects that have been

          7  selected, Paye Freed and Cobb, which are world

          8  renown architects, so we'll get a nice building down

          9  there, which the students deserve.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Bring the mike a

         11  little closer.

         12                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: Sorry.

         13                 We'll get a first-rate building

         14  designed by world class architects, and that's all

         15  in place.

         16                 This week, DSNY who does the

         17  construction, and deconstruction for us, opened the

         18  bids for deconstruction, and hopefully will have a

         19  bidder picked this week.

         20                 We sat with the community several

         21  times. We'll then sit with the community again in

         22  July.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Okay.

         24                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: And

         25  then it will take, after that it will take five and
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          2  a half months to decontaminate the building, and

          3  then five and a half months to deconstruct the

          4  building. And then it will be down and it will take

          5  us about two years to get it up.

          6                 The main thing right now for the

          7  community is to get it down, and then the main thing

          8  for our students is to get it back up.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: So right now

         10  basically you're talking about within two years.

         11                 Professor Blake is here and members

         12  of BMCC and we want to make sure. I mean, what

         13  they're suffering from at BMCC is incredible, it's

         14  outrageous, and it's unacceptable. You know, which

         15  is why we need the more counseling, we're always

         16  fighting for counseling at BMCC. A lot of people

         17  don't know that there is another 9/11 story that's

         18  not told, and that's the impact that 9/11 had on

         19  BMCC. Some students' lives were lost, our building

         20  was lost, and they talk about 9/11, but never

         21  mention the tragedy at BMCC.

         22                 So we're going to prioritize it this

         23  year to expedite it, to make sure all the money is

         24  in place so we can relieve BMCC for the problems

         25  that they have over there, and we'll make a
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          2  commitment to that.

          3                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: We

          4  would greatly appreciate that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: That's good.

          6                 The other thing, CUNY Prep. CUNY Prep

          7  has been excellent. We need to line itemize a lot of

          8  our stuff so we don't have to go through this every

          9  year, but CUNY Prep should be one piece that

         10  shouldn't have to go through this budget negotiating

         11  every year. The work that they do with the student

         12  population they have is incredible. So we just have

         13  to continue to do great sport. How are we looking

         14  with that? I know we're going to be working closely

         15  with you, but are there any contingency plans in the

         16  event?

         17                 Because the thing that we have to

         18  talk about, even though we feel strongly that we're

         19  going to be successful, contingency plans, in the

         20  event there is any snags anywhere. So, if you can

         21  give us some discussion on that?

         22                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DORBIN: Well,

         23  you know, we're not in good shape at all. We're

         24  short about two and a half million dollars for CUNY

         25  Prep. And if we don't get that two and a half
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          2  million dollars, we're going to lose services.

          3                 There is, you know, there is nowhere

          4  left to come but here, and we're here today to ask

          5  for that money. There really is no real contingency

          6  plan other than to get the money.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: All right. So

          8  that's what you all should say to the State, too. So

          9  we didn't have to have a compact plan and do the

         10  private sector and the tuition raises. We've got to

         11  tell the State from now on that, no, we don't have

         12  no contingency plan. You can't cut that money.

         13                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: We do

         14  say that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Okay, good. We

         16  just want to make sure of that.

         17                 I want to turn it over to one of my

         18  colleagues, Miguel Martinez. I will have some

         19  further questions, but Miguel Martinez has some

         20  questions for you.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

         22  Mr. Chair.

         23                 I want to start off as a follow-up to

         24  the Chairman's question in reference to tuition

         25  increases. So, when you say there are no tuition
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          2  increases, does that mean there are no tuition

          3  increases for the next five years, according to your

          4  capital plan which you plan to incrementally

          5  increase tuition? Or no tuition increase this year?

          6  Or do we have to revisit this next year?

          7                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: As you

          8  know, the capital plan is not related to tuition, it

          9  would really be a strategic plan or a master plan.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Can we

         11  adjust the mike? I can't hear back there.

         12                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: Is

         13  this clearer?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Yes.

         15                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: Okay.

         16  It's not a capital plan issue, it's a strategic or

         17  master plan issue.

         18                 But that plan -- the way -- it's

         19  primarily, you know, the way the State plan works,

         20  the State can really only legally adopt the budget

         21  one year at a time, so this year there will be no

         22  tuition increase. The plan that we laid out over the

         23  next four years in the compact does have increases,

         24  modest increases in those other years.

         25                 Whether what will happen, the board
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          2  has to adopt plans one year at a time also. What

          3  will really happen we'll see as we go forward for

          4  the four years. So, really we only legally --

          5  everything else is aspirational, the only thing we

          6  can legally do is look at one year at a time.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: But that's

          8  not what you were selling. You were selling the idea

          9  that this was a five-year plan, that the Board

         10  approved.

         11                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: It is.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Now you're

         13  saying that the Board will have to approve it every

         14  year. Correct? Is that what I heard?

         15                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: Our

         16  plan, our aspirational plan, which is what the

         17  compact is, it's us saying what we want to happen

         18  over the next five years. It's different in the

         19  legal clad.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: It's all in

         21  the language.

         22                 Now I hear a different word

         23  aspiration. All I heard, a plan approved by the

         24  Board that you took to Albany, to be approved by

         25  Albany, and I was under the understanding that if
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          2  Albany approved this, this is the way we're going to

          3  go for the next five years.

          4                 So, the fact that there is no need to

          5  increase tuition, I was hoping to hear, since this

          6  is the plan adopted by the Board of Trustees of

          7  CUNY, and Albany accepting it, the Executive Branch,

          8  in this case, the Governor and the Legislature, that

          9  in the next five years we wouldn't have to hear the

         10  word tuition increase. What I'm hearing is that we

         11  may have to revisit this and there may be a possible

         12  tuition increase the next year.

         13                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: That

         14  is correct.

         15                 Again, legally we sat with the

         16  Governor's office, we sat with the Legislature, just

         17  as we sat with you, we prevented our plan, what we

         18  had hoped to happen for the next five years.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: No, I

         20  understand that.

         21                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: The

         22  Board is supportive of, but the Legislature legally

         23  can only do one year at a time, and every year, each

         24  one of those years we're going to have to revisit

         25  this conversation.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Correct. No,

          3  but I was under the assumption that the Chancellor

          4  was trying to move in a different direction, in

          5  terms of, you know, when he spoke about, you know,

          6  the need for this plan to hire additional full-time

          7  faculty, enhanced research, capability, improve

          8  faculty, support, strengthen collaborative program

          9  and so forth, that this was a plan that we were

         10  trying to sell as a package.

         11                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: It is.

         12  And we did talk about it as a package, we sold it --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: On a yearly

         14  basis.

         15                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: But at

         16  the end of the day, anything over one year is just a

         17  moral commitment.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: I understand

         19  that. With the reality of, you know, every year is a

         20  different budget in Albany. But somehow I was under

         21  the assumption that this was something that was

         22  going to be worked out in terms of baselining the

         23  money in the five year plan for CUNY. And it's not.

         24  So, we're not there yet.

         25                 So, in the issue of tuition, what
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          2  about fees? Do we see any increases in fees?

          3                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: We

          4  don't. And again, everything you said is correct. I

          5  don't want to take away because it's so important

          6  for us. This is the best budge we've seen, people I

          7  talk to, ever in CUNY. This is a big deal for us.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: No, no, I

          9  appreciate that.

         10                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: At the

         11  senior colleges, we still need the help at the

         12  community colleges.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: And I

         14  appreciate that. I was just hoping to hear that this

         15  was part of a whole five-year plan, but it's not.

         16                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: Well,

         17  it's part of a plan, but, again, it's one year at a

         18  time legally. We've got to go back every year and

         19  fight for that year.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Correct.

         21                 In the area of the issue, the

         22  Chairman brought it up, in terms of the BMCC

         23  building, what are we looking at there exactly? Is

         24  it going to have to be torn down? Are we going to

         25  rehab the structure we have?
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          2                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: It's

          3  going to be decontaminated first, then it's going to

          4  be torn down and then we're going to get a brand new

          5  building, designed as a school, not as a

          6  reconstructed office building we have before.

          7                 When this is finished, we will be in

          8  much better shape in that building than we were

          9  before this all happened.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: And we're

         11  scheduled to do that when?

         12                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: It

         13  will take a little less than a year to get the

         14  building down, and then it will take a little less

         15  than two years to put it back up.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: And when

         17  we're looking at the different campuses in terms of

         18  community and adult continued education, I know you

         19  have an effort when we call CUNY and the heights and

         20  so forth.

         21                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN:

         22  Mm-hmm.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Are there

         24  any plan within your master plan for a permanent

         25  facility?
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          2                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: There

          3  are not currently plans, but, you know, this is

          4  something all of us talk about. But there are not

          5  currently a plan in the capital budget for that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: You know,

          7  both Chairmen, Finance and our Higher Ed Chairman

          8  Barron mentioned, when we look at the list here of,

          9  you know, the cuts from the Peter Vallone

         10  Scholarship to the Puerto Rican and Dominican

         11  Studies Institute, to the immigration services that

         12  CUNY provide, it is disappointing to see that the

         13  Administration doesn't baseline these initiatives,

         14  which so much serve the citizens and throughout the

         15  City of New York in different communities. Having

         16  said that, you know, what is the commitment in terms

         17  of CUNY, towards both research institutes, with the

         18  new budget approval, since part of the plan calls

         19  for enhancement, and in increasing capability, the

         20  research capability for both of these institutes,

         21  since we're asking for a restoration of monies they

         22  have now, what are you looking at in terms of

         23  enhancing their capability, in terms of research at

         24  both of these institutes? Or the institutes

         25  throughout CUNY?
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          2                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN:

          3  Hopefully we're going to get a restoration of funds

          4  for these institutes. You know, all the institutes

          5  to CUNY are different. I don't have the breakout,

          6  you know, the budget and what's the plan off-hand,

          7  which I can get to you. When you say the two, which

          8  I'll focus on in that response, which are the two

          9  we're talking about?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: The Puerto

         11  Rican and the Dominican Studies Institutes.

         12                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: Okay,

         13  I'll get back to you on the specifics.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: That's

         15  extremely important because when we look at the

         16  population, in terms of CUNY, these are very

         17  important institutes, and strategically we want to

         18  connect the funding that we put to support these

         19  institutes to the thinking of CUNY when presenting a

         20  budget to us, especially now that we have this year,

         21  as you mentioned. This year, according to the plan

         22  is to increase the research capability and capacity

         23  of these institutes, we want to connect that to that

         24  strategic planning of CUNY, not just the Council

         25  coming forward and putting funding for these
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          2  institutes, but also CUNY making a commitment behind

          3  these institutes, with the overall plan.

          4                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: I

          5  understand.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: That's very

          7  important.

          8                 And finally, Mr. Chair, I just wanted

          9  to commend you on your effort and the work you've

         10  done here in the Committee and ensuring the

         11  services, but particularly your advocacy for the

         12  students at CUNY, and I would tell the Chancellor

         13  that, you know, I felt kind of jealous that you

         14  didn't mention me as a CUNY grad, you only mentioned

         15  the Chairs of Finance and Higher Ed?

         16                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: I

         17  apologize. I was talking about only --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: For the record,

         19  I'm a graduate of SUNY, not CUNY.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: There you

         21  go.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Although both my

         23  parents are graduates of CUNY, and you know, if they

         24  hadn't gone to CUNY, they might not have had the

         25  foresight --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: So what you

          3  meant to say was Council Member Martinez and Council

          4  Member Barron.

          5                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: Well,

          6  actually what I meant to say --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: And

          8  Seabrook.

          9                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: Hold

         10  on one second. Let me modify correctly. I need you

         11  to correct me if I'm wrong.

         12                 Let me tell you what I think we know,

         13  and if I'm wrong, that would be great.

         14                 I was talking about community

         15  colleges, and I guess, you know, I have no right to

         16  take pride in this, but I took pride in the fact

         17  that Chairman and Councilman Seabrook are both

         18  graduates of community colleges.

         19                 When I spoke to Jay, who knows

         20  everything, as we all know, Jay said --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So is Councilman

         22  Monserrate, by the way.

         23                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: I

         24  mentioned you and Jay said, no, no, he's a graduate

         25  of a senior college.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: But Councilman

          3  Monserrate is in that category.

          4                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: So we

          5  equally take pride in everybody who is a graduate of

          6  CUNY, SUNY college, which is you and fortunately for

          7  me, it includes me also.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: But it

          9  already counts.

         10                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: We're

         11  not bad people, you and I both, neither one of us

         12  are bad because we started in a senior college.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

         14  Mr. Chair.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Council Member

         16  Martinez was president of the student government,

         17  too, at John Jay College.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

         19  Gale.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you,

         21  Council Member Martinez. Isn't this wonderful,

         22  everybody fighting over you?

         23                 Years ago they didn't want to be with

         24  us.

         25                 Council Member Brewer.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

          3  much. I had a couple of questions about saving

          4  money. I certainly would like to see more money from

          5  the City budget, and I echo Council Member Weprin's

          6  discussion that is refreshing to hear what the needs

          7  are and that funding is necessary to address them.

          8                 But in the Bronx and Manhattan,

          9  something called Nizer Net, which you probably know

         10  is the loop that is going to Manhattan, Bronx and

         11  hopefully into Brooklyn and Queens that would

         12  address some of the technology needs. And I don't

         13  know if it's saving any funding in terms of phone,

         14  Internet, et cetera. I just wondered if you could

         15  address ways that either Nizer Net or other

         16  innovative ways of trying to address some savings,

         17  if there is such a thing.

         18                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN:

         19  Fortunately this is what I do for a living a lot of

         20  the day.

         21                 When I came to CUNY, I sat down with

         22  the Chancellor and we took a look at what the fiscal

         23  picture looked like in the City and State for the

         24  next few years --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Allan, pull
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          2  the microphone closer to you. That would be better.

          3                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: When I

          4  came to CUNY we looked at what the fiscal situation

          5  looked like in the City and the State over the past

          6  few years and it was pretty bleak. We knew we needed

          7  to move the University forward, particularly hiring

          8  more full-time faculty. So, what we did is I put the

          9  other productivity program to try to find ways to

         10  save money on the administrative side of the house

         11  and just do things smarter and cheaper and reinvest

         12  that money on the academic side of the house, and we

         13  were able to save, through this June it would be

         14  approximately $40 million, which we reinvested

         15  through the provost and the academic side. So, on

         16  simple things like, I surveyed all the colleges and

         17  asked them what kind of PCs they use, and we found

         18  out that most of them use Dell so we standardized on

         19  Dell across the University. We went to Dell and said

         20  we would like to purchase only Dell computers for

         21  the University and we'd like you to give us a price

         22  that is 25 percent better than the State contract,

         23  and they laughed at us and we said, fine, we'll go

         24  to Gateway, and they said, well, we're just kidding.

         25  Now every time we purchase four computers, we only
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          2  pay for three.

          3                 You look in the Sunday Times, the New

          4  York Times, it used to drive me nuts, it used to say

          5  Hunter, Baruch, Queens, I said why don't we do one

          6  ad, call it CUNY? And then instead of some of the

          7  detail, just refer the people at the bottom of it to

          8  the web, where they get the detail. We save a

          9  million dollars a year just by doing that.

         10                 And then I got all the vice

         11  presidents of the campuses involved, they all

         12  thought it was the best idea. The College of Staten

         13  Island came up with an idea, they used to spend 20-

         14  30,000 dollars every year to get rid of their goose

         15  problem. They were buying chemicals to get rid of

         16  them. We went to the pound and bought a dog, and now

         17  we saved that 20-, 30,000 dollars that we invested

         18  in the academic side and we've got this dog Bud that

         19  runs around and chases the geese all day. So, we

         20  spend a lot of time getting everyone excited about

         21  ways to save money. We have hundreds of ideas now

         22  that have come to the campuses that have saved this

         23  $40 million, with no pain in any way.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         25                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: And
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          2  then we checked it, it's not bad for the students in

          3  any way when we do all our student satisfaction

          4  surveys. We ask the students, is the place just as

          5  clean, is it, you know, as many computers, as we

          6  check that we don't just cut services that are

          7  really being productive.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: NizerNet has

          9  also been helpful in terms of thinking of creative

         10  ways of participating in the savings, I assume.

         11                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: Yes.

         12  And NYPIRG is, and I spend a lot of time with

         13  everyone. It's fun, too, thinking of ways to do

         14  things like this.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         16                 The other thing you mentioned in your

         17  testimony was the issue of needing more libraries,

         18  in terms of I suppose more up-to-date libraries at

         19  the community colleges.

         20                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN:

         21  Mm-hmm.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I just was

         23  wondering if you could address that, what the needs

         24  are. Because that's obviously an important part of

         25  any campus.
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          2                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: One of

          3  the things we did this year, that's very different

          4  than we did in our budgeting in previous years, a

          5  part of the compact, we would always talk to the

          6  people on the campus, really did it very top-down.

          7                 This year we didn't. This year we

          8  went out to the campus and said meet with your

          9  faculty, and meet with your student leaders, and

         10  together come back and tell us what you really need

         11  on campuses, rather than us thinking, you know,

         12  we're wise at 80th Street, and much, I guess a

         13  little bit to my surprise is, almost all the

         14  campuses came back with requests that talked about

         15  library materials, right up at the top of the list,

         16  including which I know you'd be interested in,

         17  electronic library materials. Vice Chancellor Malave

         18  will even tell us what that all aggregated up to

         19  maybe?

         20                 VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE: Oh, sure.

         21                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: Yes,

         22  he will.

         23                 VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE: The College

         24  has identified about $1.3 million in additional

         25  support, and a lot of it runs from perodicals that
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          2  they need, but a lot of it is to keep the library

          3  open on weekends and on evenings, and many of the

          4  colleges, you know, it's easier to buy the

          5  periodicals and the books when you leave them there,

          6  but we need the human resources to keep the

          7  libraries open, the added security, the added

          8  librarians, and the individual colleges laid out

          9  their priorities in accordance with their needs.

         10  It's about $1.3 million.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'm not

         12  surprised. The public libraries unfortunately are

         13  not open enough, and there isn't much other choice.

         14                 And then just also in terms of John

         15  Jay, obviously that's in my district. I know you

         16  didn't mention it but I assumed you're supporting

         17  their capital request for increased infrastructure.

         18                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: We

         19  are. But, again, that's a senior college request and

         20  we wouldn't bring that here.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         22                 And then my final question is,

         23  obviously on the collective bargaining, I just want

         24  to know the status and if there is any fiscal

         25  reflection in terms of the upcoming budget?
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          2                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: The

          3  contract is done --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

          5                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: We

          6  have got an agreement with the PSC. The contract is

          7  now out to their members for a vote. I think it's

          8  fair contracts, so hopefully people will be very

          9  supportive of it. And we have a pay bill before the

         10  State. The City process and State process work

         11  differently.

         12                 The City keeps money in the labor

         13  reserve and then we have a contract now so money

         14  will be in the labor reserve. The State, you have to

         15  do a separate pay bill, which has now been written

         16  and I'm very confident that that will not be a

         17  problem.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chairman.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you.

         21                 Council Member Vallone.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you.

         23  First I'd like to clarify the record, Charles Barron

         24  challenged me to a ping-pong match, and has been

         25  trying to weasel out of it ever since.
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          2                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: You

          3  should be nervous. When somebody challenges you,

          4  they can play.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I've heard he

          6  can play, so we do need to put some stakes on this.

          7  It would be interesting.

          8                 There isn't actually too much that

          9  unites Charles Barron and I.

         10                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: One

         11  way you may want to do this is, if you win, CUNY

         12  gets another million dollars, and if Councilman

         13  Barron wins, we get $2 million.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Wait, am I

         15  going to get 100 million? I'm confused. Make sure if

         16  I win you get more.

         17                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: Well,

         18  I'm talking about above what we were requesting

         19  today.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: All right,

         21  we'll discuss this.

         22                 But like I said, there isn't much

         23  that unites Charlie Barron and I down here at City

         24  Hall, but this is one, the importance of this, of

         25  you receiving the money you deserve, is one thing
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          2  that we stand together on down here. In fact, I felt

          3  so strongly about it, I went down yesterday and

          4  bailed Charlie Barron out of jail so he could get

          5  here, to make sure this hearing went on.

          6                 Anywhere we go, we discuss this,

          7  students and past students come up to us and say how

          8  important the Peter Vallone Scholarship has been to

          9  them, their ability to receive an education, and we

         10  are going to do everything possible as we have in

         11  the past to make sure students are allowed to

         12  continue to have that scholarship.

         13                 And while we're discussing people who

         14  have gone to CUNY, my daughter just made Hunter

         15  College High School, so before Charlie says it, I'll

         16  say it, she overcame her genetics to get in there,

         17  because apparently it's very, very hard to get into.

         18                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: It's

         19  the most selective school in the City.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I have no

         21  idea how that happened, based on my IQ and ability

         22  to speak in public, obviously.

         23                 But I don't have a question. In the

         24  interest of time, I just wanted to thank everyone in

         25  the room for coming down here today to support you
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          2  for the job you do and both of our chairs for

          3  continuing to lead the fight down here to make sure

          4  you get what you deserve. Thank you, all.

          5                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: Thank

          6  you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I wanted to thank

          8  Peter Vallone for that, but I have to honestly say

          9  this, that I'll be trying very, very hard over the

         10  next couple of years to change the scholarship to

         11  the Charles Barron Scholarship, because he's gone. I

         12  mean, Peter Vallone, he's not here anymore, so I'm

         13  here getting all the money into the scholarship and

         14  under his name, his father's name. I don't

         15  understand that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: It would be

         17  much simpler to change it to the Junior, Peter

         18  Vallone, Jr. Scholarship, just two little letters.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Let me explain

         20  the jail thing, so you don't think I committed a

         21  crime.

         22                 Yesterday I was supporting the 32BJ

         23  workers who work at the Empire State Building, the

         24  security officers, and get paid little or no money,

         25  for health care and for a pension. So, we had civil
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          2  disobedience in front of the Empire State Building,

          3  and we blocked the entrance. It was myself, some

          4  clergy, and Council Member Anna Palma, and we were

          5  waiting for Peter Vallone but he didn't show up. But

          6  we did block it and disorderly conduct, you know, I

          7  thought they used to just give you a little desk

          8  appearance ticket and send you out. I don't know

          9  whether it was because I was there that we had to

         10  sit in the jail for three hours, but they actually

         11  put us in jail. I mean, I really was in jail

         12  yesterday, and I forgot to tell my staff that I was

         13  going to do that. I just decided to do that. And

         14  they heard it on the news, Council Member Barron is

         15  in jail.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: He's now excused

         17  from missing yesterday's Finance hearing.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: So that's what

         19  that was about. So, thank you, Peter, for your

         20  support, and your father for all of the work that

         21  he's done here, and we will continue to support

         22  those scholarships.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         24  Gerson.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you.
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          2  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair. Thank you for all

          3  your great work. I'm sure the Department of

          4  Correction will never be the same. Probably

          5  organized it during those three hours you were

          6  there, but knowing Charles Barron.

          7                 Just good afternoon.

          8                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: Good

          9  afternoon.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Yes, we're

         11  just in the afternoon.

         12                 Just two quick questions since the

         13  hearing has been so thorough, but on Fiterman Hall,

         14  could you tell us how much funds you have either

         15  received or you have received commitments for, if

         16  any, from other levels of government, including the

         17  Lower Manhattan Development Corporation and the

         18  State government?

         19                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: We

         20  have money from FEMA.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: The federal,

         22  thank you.

         23                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: Then

         24  we got insurance money, because DSNY had a policy,

         25  because they were doing construction there. So, the
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          2  insurance company had to pay because we had that

          3  policy. We then got $15 million from the State

          4  government, that was then matched by the City. We

          5  got $5 million from the 9/11 Fund. We have another

          6  7.5 that the State Legislature recently gave us, and

          7  we're hoping as part of this request to get that 7.5

          8  match from the City.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Is there 7.5

         10  conditional on your receiving a match, or

         11  unconditional?

         12                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: It's

         13  always conditional.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, if we

         15  don't come up with a match, you're going to lose the

         16  State proposed grant?

         17                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: That's

         18  correct.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Of the money

         20  you have received, or again, for what you have

         21  received commitments, what portion has been

         22  expended, and what portion is still waiting for the

         23  work you discussed in your responses?

         24                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: The

         25  vast majority is still waiting for the work to be
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          2  done.

          3                 We've done some architectual work, we

          4  had to spend money making the building safe so it

          5  wouldn't contaminate the neighborhood, but most of

          6  the money still will be expended.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And finally,

          8  on this, do you have any applications beyond what

          9  you have requested in your current proposal? Do you

         10  have applications for funds currently pending before

         11  the LMDC or other 9/11-related entities?

         12                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: We do

         13  not. If we get this money for the additional expense

         14  with decontamination, we will be fine, barring some

         15  huge inflationary increase over the next few days.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I'm sorry,

         17  just repeat the last part.

         18                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN:

         19  Barring some huge inflationary increase that none of

         20  us can anticipate now, we have enough money with

         21  escalators to do the deconstruction, the

         22  decontamination in the building of the new building.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That will give

         24  you everything you need to complete the entire from

         25  deconstruction through reconstruction?
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          2                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: That

          3  is correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay.

          5                 Certainly the Chair and I have

          6  discussed following up on this issue. I think we're

          7  both very, very supportive. I have the privilege of

          8  representing BMCC.

          9                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: I know

         10  you do.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And we'll work

         12  together to support this important effort.

         13                 My last question on a different part

         14  of downtown, I was present with the Chancellor, with

         15  the Mayor, with the Governor, with many of my

         16  colleagues on Governor's Island, I think probably a

         17  couple of years ago where the pronouncement was made

         18  that the centerpiece of the Island's redesign and

         19  recreation was going to be a CUNY facility, a

         20  limited CUNY campus, and yet I see nothing in the

         21  testimony, all referring to that.

         22                 Could you tell us, is this, just one

         23  of these announcements that have evaporated or there

         24  are still plans and where do we stand on that and

         25  specifically is there any funding proposed for FY
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          2  '07 to pursue this?

          3                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: Okay,

          4  I guess I'll do it in the opposite order.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Money talks,

          6  everything else --

          7                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: There

          8  is an RFP process that GIPEC, which is the Governors

          9  Island whatever group is doing, and CUNY has three

         10  proposals that we submitted. None of them would turn

         11  it into CUNY island, to be honest. And GIPEC is

         12  looking for things that actually have money attached

         13  to it. People bring money, we are actually a group

         14  that asks for money. But we're looking to set up a

         15  global village. We have a high-level assimilation

         16  center we'd like to do and an ecology center we'd

         17  like to do. So, those are all under review by GIPEC.

         18  Whether they will be funded or not, we'll see. There

         19  is no separate State or City allocation for CUNY to

         20  be on Governors Island.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And you

         22  haven't received any GIPEC commitments that there

         23  will be some CUNY presence on the Island?

         24                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: As you

         25  were before, that is correct also.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay. Well,

          3  thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

          4                 I'll just say, we are very interested

          5  in working with all of our City's major academic and

          6  intellectual institutions, which of course begins

          7  with CUNY to create an appropriate collaboration for

          8  the appropriate facility of science and technology

          9  on the Island in addition to other uses. Could we

         10  reach out to you to be part of this effort to

         11  address and explore the feasibility of ideas in that

         12  field?

         13                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR DOBRIN: We

         14  would be honored.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay, thank

         16  you very much, Chair Barron. Thank you, Chair

         17  Weprin.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you, Member

         19  Gerson.

         20                 I think Council Member Martinez had a

         21  follow-up question?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Actually

         23  John already answered it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well, I want to

         25  thank you very much for this great hearing. And once
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          2  again, we want to reiterate our support for CUNY

          3  initiatives. And we will be having a press

          4  conference at 12:30. We want all of you to join us,

          5  be a part of that. Since the Mayor decides to dance,

          6  let's take him to dance, take him to the task at

          7  12:30 and put him on the spot.

          8                 I also want to say that we had a

          9  great CUNY college fair in my district in East New

         10  York. I want to thank all of the members of the

         11  Administration and students who helped organize

         12  that. We had nearly 400 people that came by and

         13  showed interest in CUNY in one way or another, and

         14  it was really great for East New York. So, we thank

         15  CUNY for that.

         16                 We're going to continue to support

         17  our Black Male Initiative. You know, you can't just

         18  talk about black male in crises and don't put no

         19  money in to resolve that crises.

         20                 They're doing great work at Medgar

         21  Evers and other colleges. We want to expand it, and

         22  we know some students at BMCC have some plans around

         23  that question, and we're excited about that and we

         24  want to look forward to hearing their plans and

         25  seeing more on that.
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          2                 And we're really pleased, because you

          3  know, I always talk about free tuition at CUNY.

          4  We've got to get there. I'm going to get a

          5  Commission together so there should be no tuition.

          6  They had it before, they should do it again. And we

          7  can get there.

          8                 And evidence of that, see once I put

          9  that out there, now the Governor and others are

         10  incrementally sneaking up on it. So, they said free

         11  tuition for those who major in math and science,

         12  there will be no tuition, according to the State

         13  plan. So, they're going to have free tuition for

         14  math, science. I think we should extend it a little

         15  more to nursing, and then if we do that, then we'll

         16  have those three in the next year hopefully, and

         17  then we'll go to political science, the liberal

         18  arts, and then just do the whole curriculum.

         19                 So, since they don't want to give us

         20  the whole thing at once, we'll inch up on them and

         21  do it incrementally.

         22                 But I thank Chair Weprin for this

         23  hearing. I thank you for your continued support.

         24  CUNY is the best, and we're going to continue to do

         25  the best for our community.
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          2                 One last thing. One last thing. I

          3  need your support on this. Many CUNY students, as

          4  myself, grew up in public housing. And I knew I grew

          5  up in public housing, you could probably say some of

          6  the greatest people come out of public housing, I'm

          7  one of them. But what NYCHA is doing now, talking

          8  about this rent increase for people in public

          9  housing, and these fees increase, I'm hoping that

         10  CUNY students can help me in supporting residents of

         11  public housing. We're saying no to the increase in

         12  rent, because the federal government took $168

         13  million out of the NYCHA budget, and they have a

         14  $2.7 trillion national budget, $2.7 trillion. You

         15  have $300 billion for Iraq, but you don't have $168

         16  million for people in public housing? That's a

         17  contradiction that we should not settle for. If

         18  you've got money for Iraq, you should have money for

         19  people in public housing.

         20                 So, I'm going to need to call on you.

         21  If we have to, we're going to shut the City down.

         22  You all down with that? I didn't hear no amens on

         23  that one. Oh, okay. You know, when I get tough,

         24  you'all leave me out there by myself. But thank you

         25  so much for your continued support, and we love you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Before we adjourn

          3  this joint discussion, if you could just, Mr. Dobrin

          4  and your colleagues, my good friend Jay Herschenson,

          5  if you could convey to Chancellor Goldstein, you

          6  know, what went on at this hearing and our regrets

          7  that he could not be here today, but we know that

          8  he's constantly in contact with the Council and in

          9  support of working together on a lot of our

         10  initiatives, and making sure that all of these cuts

         11  are restored and then enhanced, as my co-chair so

         12  elegantly stated earlier, and I want to wish

         13  everybody a happy Memorial Day weekend.

         14                 This joint Committee is now

         15  adjourned.

         16                 (Hearing concluded at 12:15 p.m.)
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